FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/19/2020 4:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99244-4

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

No. 52898-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Neil and Elizabeth Rabinowitz, Husband and Wife,

Appellants,

٧.

Chicago Title Insurance Company, a Nebraska State Corporation; and Fidelity National Title Group, a Delaware State Corporation,

Respondents

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The role of the title insurer is to insure title. *Kim v. Lee*, 145 Wn.2d 79, 91, 31 P.3d 665 (2001). Petitioners Neil and Elizabeth Rabinowitz (collectively "Rabinowitz") are homeowners who seek discretionary review to hold title insurers to the same "duty to defend" standards as other liability insurers. In this case, Rabinowitz was sued by neighboring property owners William and Sara McGonagle (collectively "McGonagle") over a 10-foot strip of land specifically described in Rabinowitz' deed, and in their title policy purchased from Chicago Title. The strip was *not* mentioned at all in McGonagle's deed. Nor did McGonagle have a recorded easement to the 10-foot strip.

In spite of this, McGonagle sued Rabinowitz seeking to acquire title to, or use of, the strip of land that was in Rabinowitz' deed and title policy. McGonagle's quiet title complaint alleged alternative theories — one of which would have unquestionably been covered by Rabinowitz' title policy. Remarkably, Chicago Title refused to defend Rabinowitz before knowing which of McGonagle's alternate theories would succeed. Not only did Chicago Title put its own interests ahead of its insured, it impermissibly — and this fact is not in dispute — looked outside the 8-corners of the Complaint and the Policy to reach this duty to defend decision.

Division II affirmed the trial court decision in favor of Chicago Title, with one judge dissenting. ("the Decision"). In so doing, the Decision impermissibly relied on extrinsic evidence, and on the Court's own prediction of the outcome in the underlying trial court (*McGonagle v. Rabinowitz*) rather than review what the insured was faced with – a Complaint and its insurance policy. For an insured, the benefit of a defense is often times more important than the benefit of indemnity. That is the

case here. Chicago Title was obliged to provide a defense to Rabinowitz against McGonagle's challenge to Rabinowitz' ownership interest in – his title to – the insured property.

It is upon these circumstances that Rabinowitz seeks discretionary review. Title insurers in Washington must be held to the same standards as other liability insurers when faced with a tender of defense for a lawsuit *against their insureds* related to property unquestionably covered by the title policy.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioners Neil and Elizabeth Rabinowitz (collectively "Rabinowitz") ask the Court to accept review of an unpublished Court of Appeals decision filed August 18, 2020 ("Decision"), in the Appendix at A-001 to A-015. Rabinowitz moved to publish (A-016 to A-020) and moved for reconsideration (A-021 to A-049). The Court of Appeals denied Rabinowitz' Motion for Reconsideration on October 21, 2020 (A-50) and denied Rabinowitz' Motion to Publish on November 4, 2020 (A-51).

The Decision affirmed the denial of Rabinowitz' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against their title insurer, Chicago Title Insurance Co. ("Chicago Title") and the grant of Chicago Title's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Decision held that Chicago Title had no duty to defend Rabinowitz against a quiet title lawsuit brought against Rabinowitz by their neighbors. The Decision included a dissenting opinion.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court requiring an insurer to determine its duty to defend only from the 8-corners of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint, including *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Insurance Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 329 P.3d 59 (2014); *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010); and *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*, 188 Wn.2d 171, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017).
- 2. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court that prevent an insurer from raising new grounds to support a denial of coverage during the course of litigation that it did not assert in its initial denial, including *Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indemnity Ins. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 501, 276 P.3d 300 (2012).
- 3. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court that squarely place the burden of proving the application of an insurance policy exclusion upon the insurer, not the insured, including *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).
- 4. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to confirm that the purpose of the description of land in a title insurance policy is for identifying the land covered by the policy and not for the purpose of limiting the insurance protection purchased, consistent with *Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 161, 588 P.2d 208 (1978).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rabinowitz purchased title insurance from Chicago Title (CP: 40-69 (Title Policy)) when purchasing their home on Bainbridge Island in 1987. The disputed 10-foot strip claimed by neighbor McGonagle was included within the metes and bounds perimeter of Rabinowitz' legal description, recited in *Schedule A* of the title policy –

# ... LESS the East 10 feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor of the tract immediately adjoining on the South ...

(CP: 72 - McGonagle Complaint); (CP: 51 - Legal Description in Chicago Title policy); (CP: 95 - Exhibit A of Rabinowitz deed).

## A. The Underlying Action – McGonagle v. Rabinowitz.

On February 14, 2011, McGonagle filed a quiet title action against Rabinowitz seeking ownership of, or alternatively, an easement to use the 10-foot strip. (CP 71-75). A common grantor had at one time owned both the McGonagle and Rabinowitz parcels. (CP 73 at ¶ 5). Under McGonagle's first legal theory, he asserted that he owned the 10-foot strip in fee simple. Despite the fact that the strip was not mentioned in McGonagle's own deed, he claimed this was a "scrivener's error." Under this theory, Rabinowitz had no ownership interest in the strip.

Alternatively, McGonagle claimed that the *language "LESS the East 10* feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor" was utilized by the common grantor to establish an express easement. McGonagle's express easement claim acknowledged Rabinowitz owned the strip, subject to an easement in favor of McGonagle.

The 10-foot strip was *not* included in the metes and bounds description or otherwise mentioned in McGonagle's legal description. The trial court, after a bench trial, ultimately concluded that McGonagle owned the 10-foot strip in fee simple due to a scrivener's error and that Rabinowitz had no ownership interest in that property. (July 21, 2014) (CP: 153-157).

### B. Chicago Title's Denial.

On March 28, 2011, just a month after McGonagle filed his quiet title lawsuit, Rabinowitz tendered defense of that lawsuit to Chicago Title. (CP 76-113). In its April 5, 2011 denial letter, Chicago Title acknowledged that under the insuring agreement, coverage is provided where "Title to the estate or interest described in Schedule A [is] vested otherwise than as stated there." (CP: 115-116). "Schedule A" recites the Rabinowitz' legal description just as it appears on Rabinowitz' deed (see, CP 121-123). Chicago Title wrote:

The Company takes the position that the "LESS" immediately preceding "the East 10 feet . . ." removes the disputed property from the description of the land insured by the Policy. Accordingly, the subject matter of the claim does not fall within the insuring provisions of the Policy.

(CP: 116)(emphasis added). The letter then states:

Since the Company is taking the position that the East 10 feet was not insured by the Policy any claim for loss of that portion or an easement by prescription or implication over that portion would fall outside the insuring provisions of the Policy without the need for a Schedule B Exception.

Id. Rabinowitz understood that he purchased the entire parcel identified within the metes and bounds description of his Lot, which included the strip, and that the phrase "LESS the East 10 feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor" was at most intended by the grantor to reserve to the grantor a right to use the 10-foot strip for a road. Because there was no recorded easement benefiting McGonagle's parcel, or recorded easement shown as an encumbrance against Rabinowitz' parcel, the intent of the grantor was uncertain. This is why McGonagle had filed alternative claims for fee simple ownership, an express easement, a prescriptive

easement, or an implied easement. The grantor's intent could not be known to either McGonagle or Rabinowitz short of a judicial determination. Nor could it have been known to Chicago Title. Yet the title insurer acted as the judge and jury, unilaterally determining before any judicial adjudication that the language "LESS the East 10 feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor" acted to divest Rabinowitz of fee simple ownership, as a matter of law, leaving the strip outside of the parcel and uninsured by Chicago Title.

In denying coverage, Chicago Title *unilaterally* gave the language "LESS the East 10 feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor" a self-serving interpretation that prevented coverage, while ignoring McGonagle's express easement claim – a claim that acknowledged Rabinowitz' fee simple ownership interest – a claim that, if proven, eliminated the reason for Chicago Title's denial.

In its' second denial letter, Chicago Title revealed that it had searched facts outside of the 8-corners of the Complaint and Policy *and* that it was relying on those facts to deny its duty to defend:

<u>A review of the chain of title</u> shows that the East 10 feet have been continually excepted from the conveyance of title to the Property, and as such the Company <u>would not have been willing</u> to insure title to such land. Accordingly, <u>the subject matter of the claim</u> does not fall within the insuring provisions of the Policy.

(CP: 123) (emphasis added). Rabinowitz was left holding the bag to pay substantial out-of-pocket defense costs in a very contentious and expensive lawsuit brought by McGonagle – a Kitsap County attorney.

# C. The Present Suit: Rabinowitz v. Chicago Title.

After Chicago Title denied coverage, Rabinowitz filed this declaratory action on May 29, 2015 (CP: 4-9). Both parties moved for summary judgment on Chicago Title's duty to defend. (CP: 21-36 and 125-142 - legal memoranda). The trial court denied Rabinowitz' motion and granted Chicago Title's motion without explanation (CP: 350-351). Rabinowitz appealed (CP: 352).

#### D. Court of Appeals Decision.

Although the Decision accurately sets forth Washington's "duty to defend" law, it did not apply those principals to the facts of this case. The Decision impermissibly allows Chicago Title to rely on facts outside the 8-corners of the Complaint and the Policy to conclude it had no duty to defend. The Decision further compounds the error by adding **the Court's own** "no loss" analysis – to find a duty to defend. The dissenting opinion pointed out these errors.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court requiring an insurer to determine its duty to defend only from the 8-corners of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint, including Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Insurance Co., 180 Wn.2d 793, 329 P.3d 59 (2014); Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010); and Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co., 188 Wn.2d 171, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017).

In Washington, the duty to defend is determined from the "8-corners" of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint. *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Insurance Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 329 P.3d 59 (2014); *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010); and *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*, 188 Wn.2d 171, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017). It is indisputable that Chicago Title

relied on facts outside the 8-corners of the Complaint and Policy to deny its policyholder a defense.

<u>A review of the chain of title</u> shows that the East 10 feet have been continually excepted from the conveyance of title to the Property, and as such the Company <u>would not have been willing</u> to insure title to such land. Accordingly, <u>the subject matter of the claim</u> does not fall within the insuring provisions of the Policy.

(CP: 123) (emphasis added). "[*T]he* insurer may not rely on facts extrinsic to the complaint to deny the duty to defend — it may do so only to trigger the duty." *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wn. 2d 43, 53–54, 164 P.3d 454, 459 (2007) (internal citations omitted). Further, under well-established Washington law, the "conceivably covered" standard applies to all "duty to defend" determinations. *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wash.2d 43164 P.3d 454 (2007). By affirming Chicago Title's decision to deny its duty to defend, the Decision impermissibly allows Chicago Title to rely on information outside the 8-corners to deny a defense.

In applying the "conceivably covered" standard and the "8-corners" rule to analyze the duty to defend, the only relevant facts are those *alleged* by McGonagle in his Complaint, even if those facts are untrue. Because McGonagle's deed did not include the strip, and because he had no recorded easement to the strip, he relied on the language in Rabinowitz' deed that stated: "LESS the East 10 feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor of the tract immediately adjoining on the South" to assert claims, in the alternative, for (1) fee simple ownership and (2) express easement. (CP: 43).

In alleging this language had alternative possible meanings, McGonagle himself acknowledged an ambiguity in this language. Under Washington law, when

considering the duty to defend, the insured is entitled to all conceivable inferences to find a duty to defend. Both Chicago Title, and the Decision, deprive Rabinowitz of this inference.

The language "reserved for use of the Grantor of the tract immediately adjoining on the South" could conceivably have been intended by the grantor to establish only an easement, an interpretation consistent with the fact that there was no mention of the strip in McGonagle's own deed, or recorded road easement to benefit McGonagle's parcel. This language could also have conceivably been unintended "surplusage" due to a scrivener's error — a plausible interpretation where, as, here, the strip was not mentioned in McGonagle's deed and he had no express easement.

In response to Rabinowitz' request that Chicago Title reconsider its decision, Chicago Title itself had to look to extrinsic facts – the chain of title – to try to resolve the ambiguity in violation of the 8-corners rule, and then used this extrinsic evidence to deny its defense obligation. Chicago Title wrote to Rabinowitz claiming it would not have insured the title based on what it found in this chain of title. But it should have reviewed the chain of title, and made that decision, before it ever issued the Policy. It was not permitted to do so as an after-thought to justify its denial of a defense to Rabinowitz.

The Decision further compounded this violation of Washington law governing an insurer's duty to defend by affirming the summary judgment decision in favor of Chicago Title. Rabinowitz urges the Court to accept review for this reason.

B. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court that prevent an insurer from raising new grounds to support a denial of coverage during the course of litigation that it did not assert in its initial denial, including *Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indemnity Ins. Co.,* 174 Wn.2d 501, 276 P.3d 300 (2012).

Under both Washington law and traditional principles of estoppel, an insurer may not change the basis for avoiding liability after litigation has begun. *See Vision One, LLC, v. Philadelphia Indemnity Ins. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 501, 520-21, 276 P.3d 300 (2012)(coverage must be determined under the policy language Philadelphia relied upon when it denied coverage). This doctrine prevents an insurer from raising new grounds to support a denial of coverage that it did not assert in its initial denial. *Id.* The Decision relies on the "no loss" exclusion – an exclusion that was never raised by Chicago Title in denying coverage. The Decision therefore impermissibly relies on facts and reasons that Chicago Title itself did *not* rely on when denying a defense to its policyholder.

¹ See also, *Karpenski v. Am. Gen. Life Cos., LLC*, 999 F. Supp. 2d 1235, 1245 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (applying the doctrine where defendants failed to raise other grounds for denial "until well after litigation began and they had answered [the p]laintiff's complaint, formally asserting [those grounds] only upon summary judgment"); *Integrated Health Prof¹ls. v. Pharmacists Mut. Ins. Co.*, 422 F. Supp. 2d 1223, 1227 (E.D. Wash. 2006) ("In the State of Washington, an insurer may not change its position once an action has been commenced if the insured will suffer prejudice as a result."); *Bosko v. Pitts & Still, Inc.,* 75 Wn.2d 856, 454 P.2d 229, 234 (Wash. 1969) (general rule that if an insurer denies coverage under the policy for one reason, while having knowledge of other grounds for denying liability, it is estopped from later raising the other grounds in an attempt to escape coverage.)

C. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court that squarely place the burden of proving the application of an insurance policy exclusion upon the insurer, not the insured, including *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).

Even if Chicago Title had raised the "no loss" exclusion in its denial –though it did not – it is improper to shift the burden to Rabinowitz to "demonstrate" a loss as the Decision clearly did.

Under the insuring agreement provisions of the Chicago Title Policy, coverage is afforded for "loss or damage, not exceeding the amount of the insurance stated in Schedule A, **and** costs, attorneys' fees and expenses . . . sustained or incurred by the insured . . ." Thus, a "loss" is not the sole basis for providing coverage. "Costs, attorneys' fees and expenses" also trigger coverage. Here, Rabinowitz sought coverage for the costs, attorney fees, and expenses incurred to defend his title – his claim of ownership, against McGonagle's own claim of ownership. Chicago Title has never questioned or disputed this scope of coverage.

By way of a policy *exclusion*, coverage is excluded for "adverse claims . . . resulting in **no loss to the insured claimant** . . . ." It is well established in Washington insurance jurisprudence that it is the insurer who bears the burden to prove the application of an exclusion – not the insured. *American Best Food*, *Inc. v. Alea London*, *Ltd.*, 138 Wn.App. 674, 683, 158 P.3d 119 (2007); aff'd in part, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).

Thus, the Decision contradicts well-established Washington law in holding:

Even if we agree with the Rabinowitzes that their title vested otherwise than as stated in Schedule A, . . . they [Rabinowitzes] fail to show that they would suffer loss or liability resulting from this claim."

The Decision thus incorrectly places the burden on Rabinowitz – the insured – to establish a "loss" in order to avoid application of the exclusion. Respectfully, the Decision has it backwards.

Moreover, at the time of its denial on April 5, 2011, Chicago Title could not know the outcome of McGonagle's quiet title action. It could not know if a loss was "conceivable" based on the *allegations* of the McGonagle Complaint, because McGonagle sought to divest Rabinowitz of the strip's ownership. This "allegation" of loss, standing alone, is all that is relevant in analyzing the "loss" issue in the context of a "duty to defend" determination. Rabinowitz is entitled to the benefit of the doubt in the duty to defend analysis – both by Chicago Title and by this Court. *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 43164 P.3d 454 (2007).

As explained by Judge Melnick in his dissent, it was *conceivable* that Rabinowitz owned the disputed property in fee simple, and it was also *conceivable* that Rabinowitz could lose that fee simple interest. Thus, the potential harm is that Rabinowitz, who believed he purchased and owned the disputed portion of property in fee simple, might lose ownership and control of it. Rabinowitz urges the Court to accept discretionary review for these reasons.

D. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to confirm that the purpose of the description of land in a title insurance policy is for identifying the land covered by the policy and not for the purpose of limiting the insurance protection purchased, consistent with Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 91 Wn.2d 161, 588 P.2d 208 (1978).

The purpose of the description of land in a title insurance policy is for identifying the land covered by the policy and not for the purpose of limiting the insurance protection purchased. *Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.* 91

Wash.2d 161, 169, 588 P.2d 208 (1978). The Decision impermissibly relies on the legal description to limit coverage, in stating:

To the extent that the Rabinowitzes believed they had an unencumbered fee simple interest in the disputed property because the strip was not listed as an exception to title in the title report, this construction contradicts the plain language in Schedule A and the deed.

Decision at 11. In his Complaint, even McGonagle alleged the Schedule A language had different potential meanings. McGonagle, himself a lawyer, recognized that the outcome of his case turned on the issue of the grantor's intent – an issue that was a mixed question of law and fact. This issue could not be resolved "as a matter of law" in the context of this appeal any more than it could have been decided on summary judgment in McGonagle's quiet title action, or by Chicago Title based on the allegations of the McGonagle Complaint. Again, as a matter of law, for purposes of evaluating the duty to defend, it must be assumed that Rabinowitz owned the strip in fee simple and it was therefore part of the property covered by the Policy. Rabinowitz urges the Court to accept discretionary review for this additional reason.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

According to Chicago Title, a title insurer does nothing more than provide a title search service, with a guarantee that it is accurate. But that is not what the policy says. It insures "marketable title" to the insured property. McGonagle's challenge to Rabinowitz' ownership interest in a portion of the insured property impacted the marketability of the insured property – something Chicago Title has never challenged. Rather, Chicago Title impermissibly decided *in advance of a judicial determination* that Rabinowitz did not own the strip to justify a denial of a

defense, claiming it was not part of the property insured by Chicago Title. Under his express easement claim, McGonagle recognized that Rabinowitz did in fact own the strip. This potential outcome would have overcome Chicago Title's reason for denying coverage; it was "conceivably covered," and Chicago Title had a duty to defend. Title insurers should be held to the same standard as all other liability insurers vis-à-vis the duty to defend. Further, the loss of ownership, or alternatively, the partial loss of control of the strip to an express easement claim, was a sufficient potential "loss" under the title policy. Chicago Title plainly had a duty to defend. The dissenting opinion understood this. Petitioners Neil and Elizabeth Rabinowitz ask the Court to grant review and set the case for argument at the earliest opportunity.