FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/21/2020 4:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99244-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CASE NO: 52898-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

NEIL RABINOWITZ and ELIZABETH RABINOWITZ, husband and wife, APPELLANTS

VS

CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE AGENCY OF KITSAP COUNTY, a Washington Corporation; CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, a Nebraska State Corporation; and FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE GROUP, a Delaware State Corporation, RESPONDENT.

ANSWER TO PETITION

HENRY K. HAMILTON, WSBA #16301
Fidelity National Law Group
701 – 5th Avenue, Suite 2710
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 224-6001
Henry.Hamilton@fnf.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE REJECTED

A. This Petition should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law in finding that the "eight corners" of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint conclusively showed there is no duty

to defend because all issues involved a 10-foot strip of land not a part of the Rabinowitzs' Deed and not included within the land described in the title policy. *Expedia, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co., 180 Wash.2d 793, 803 (2014).*

The Rabinowitzs' Deed granting title describes the land as:

The Southwest quarter of the Northeast quarter of Section 11, Township 24 North, Range 2 East, W.M. in Kitsap County, Washington described as follows:

...

LESS the East 10 Feet reserved for road for use of the Grantor of the tract immediately adjoining to the South ...

(emphasis added)

This is the same description of the land covered under the title insurance policy. The undisputed facts are that the Rabinowitzs' claims and the underlying McGonagle lawsuit all involve land not in the Rabinowitzs' Deed and not included in the land described in the title insurance policy - the disputed 10-foot strip to the east of their property. Reviewing the "eight corners" of the insurance contract and the underlying Complaint conclusively shows there is no duty to defend because all issues involved a 10-foot strip of land not a part of the Rabinowitzs' Deed and not included within the land described in the title policy. *Expedia, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 180 Wash.2d 793, 803 (2014). The basis for Chicago Title's denial of the tender of defense of the McGonagle Lawsuit returns to the basic fact that it concerned land that the Rabinowitzs have never

owned and that was not insured.² There is no conceivable basis for coverage.

In evaluating the policy and the Complaint to determine coverage, the court must interpret title insurance policies under the general rules applicable to all contracts. See, Washington Pub. Util. Dists.' Utils. Sys. v. Pub. Util. Sys. No. 1, 112 Wash.2d 1, 10, 771 P.2d 701 (1989). An equally important rule is that plain language is not to be disregarded. Davis v. North American Accident Ins. Co., 42 Wash.2d 291, 254 P.2d 722 (1953). When language is clear, there is no room for construction. Morgan v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 86 Wash.2d 432, 545 P.2d 1193 (1976). If a policy is clear and unambiguous, the court must enforce it as written and not create ambiguity where none exists. Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wash.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005). Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law in finding that the "eight corners" of the insurance contract and the underlying Complaint conclusively showed there is no duty to defend because all issues involved a 10-foot strip of land not a part of the Rabinowitzs' Deed and not included within the land described in the title policy. This Petition should be denied.

B. This Petition should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with decisions of this Court. Chicago Title did not raise new grounds

² In *Merriam-Webster's* dictionary (11th ed.), when used as a preposition, "Less" is defined as meaning "diminished by or minus."

to support denial of coverage during litigation. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the 10-foot strip of land was not part of the Deed and not part of the land described in the title insurance policy. The Court of Appeals also properly evaluated the Rabinowitzs' claims in relying on this Court's holding in *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 404, 229 P.3d 693 (2010). *Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co.*, 174 Wash. 2d 501, 276 P.3d 300 (2012), does not apply.

The Rabinowitzs second alleged basis for review is an improper fabrication of Chicago Title's position, and concerns the Court of Appeals own "no loss" analysis.³ In confirming that the Rabinowitzs' lacked a valid claim, the Court of Appeals properly cited this court's holding in *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 404, 229 P.3d 693 (2010), where this court stated "allegations, if proven, must also result in a loss or liability that is conceivably covered under the insured's policy." This was the Court of Appeals' own discussion. *Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co.*, 174 Wash. 2d 501, 276 P.3d 300 (2012), is completely inapposite because there is no evidence that Chicago Title has ever changed its position by adding additional reasons later for denying coverage. The Rabinowitzs' argument is simply an attempt to confuse.

The Court of Appeals' ruling was based on its reviewing Chicago Title's actions under the "eight corners" analysis. To the extent the court went further, that is the Court of Appeals' right. On appeal, a court "may affirm the [lower] court on any grounds established by the pleadings and

³ Petition at 7.

supported by the record." *Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wash.2d 751, 766, 58 P.3d 276 (2002). Alternatively, the Court of Appeals' analysis could be considered dicta. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wash.2d 337, 358, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003); *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wash.2d 1, 8–9, 977 P.2d 570 (1999). The Rabinowitzs' argument that Chicago Title changed its position is entirely without basis. This Petition should be rejected.

C. This Petition should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with decisions of this Court. The Court of Appeals did not place the burden on the insureds to show a loss, but correctly recognized there could be no conceivable loss because all claims concerned a 10-foot strip of land not part of the Deed and not part of the land described in the title insurance policy. *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wash.2d 398, 404, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).

The Rabinowitzs incorrectly interpret the Court of Appeals' ruling. The issue is not proving an alleged loss, the issue is that all claims concerned land not in the Deed and not part of the land described in the title insurance policy. Lost in the Rabinowitzs' discussion is the fact that any loss must be tethered to the land described in the policy. The Rabinowitzs may own other land or have equitable claims to other land, but those other holdings are not part of the Deed and not part of the land described in the title policy. The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law in reciting that although the duty to defend is broad, it is not unlimited. *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wash.2d 872, 879, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). Chicago Title does not owe the Rabinowitzs a duty

to defend if it is clear from the face of the complaint that the allegations do not fall within the policy. *Robbins v. Mason County Title Insurance Co.*, 195 Wash.2d 618, 641, 462 P.3d 430 (2020). Here, all claims concerned land not described in the title insurance policy and outside the Deed.

Whether the Rabinowitzs conceivably own other land is a red herring and is not relevant. This case is singularly about the land described in the title insurance policy. As a matter of basic contract law, the policy only insured the property identified in Schedule A, and not any interest in an adjoining property. There is no credible dispute over what land was described in the title insurance policy. The policy's plain language cannot be disregarded. Davis v. North American Accident Ins. Co., 42 Wash.2d 291 (1953). Nor in such a situation is there room for construction. Morgan v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 86 Wash.2d 432 (1976). There is no ambiguity and there is no legal basis for unilaterally adding another piece of real property to the insured parcel. Here, the dispute between the Rabinowitzs and the McGonagles concerned which party had a superior claim to a 10-foot strip to which neither had deeded title. Regardless of the merits of their arguments or which party prevailed in that dispute, it concerned land not in the Rabinowitzs' Deed and not part of the land described in the title insurance policy, and therefore the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that it is impossible to have a loss under the policy and raise the duty to defend. This Petition should be rejected.

D. Review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this Petition does not concern a matter of substantial public interest, and the Rabinowitzs fail to identify any reason to suggest it does. Further, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with decisions of this Court. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the legal description in the Deed and in the title insurance policy controlled over the Rabinowitzs' subjective belief. Shotwell v. Transameric Title Ins. Co., 91 Wash.2d 161, 588 P.2d 208 (1978).

The Rabinowitzs fail to show how their Petition involves a substantial public interest that requires review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Even more compelling, beyond being devoid of any explanation the Petition lacks any statement even mentioning a substantial public interest. The Rabinowitzs' claims are unsupported, without basis and this Petition should be summarily rejected.

The Rabinowitzs also misapply *Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 91 Wash. 2d 161, 169, 588 P.2d 208, 213 (1978). Unlike *Shotwell*, this is not a situation where the title search overlooked interests, which were a matter of public record. Here, the Court of Appeals and Chicago Title properly reviewed the legal description of the land in the policy for the express purpose of identifying the land covered by the policy, and not for any other limiting purpose. The title insurance policy is a reflection of the accuracy of a title company's search of the record title on a specific property, here the property described in the policy. *Kiniski v. Archway Motel*, 21 Wash. App. 555, 560, 586 P.2d 502 (1978); *C 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 175 Wash. App. 27, 32, 301 P.3d 500, 502 (2013). Both parties to this lawsuit agree that the Rabinowitzs' claims

solely concern the "East 10 Feet" not included in the Deed. The Rabinowitzs' Policy does not insure any property other than that described in the Deed and related Policy. There is no ambiguity and there is no legal basis for unilaterally adding another piece of real property to the insured property. The Rabinowitzs never presented a claim as to the land described in the title policy.

The Policy is one of indemnity against specific defects in or unmarketability of title, or liens, or encumbrances as to the land described in the title policy only. *Sec. Serv., Inc. v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 20 Wash. App. 664, 669-70, 583 P.2d 1217 (1978). Any obligation of defense hinges on whether a claim is against the specific insured parcel of land. Here, there is nothing before the court, and there are no facts showing any issue with the title to the land described in the Deed and in the title insurance policy. In fact, the opposite is true.

The Rabinowitzs' claims are unsupported, without basis and this Petition should be summarily rejected.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Rabinowitzs misrepresent Chicago Title's position and the Court of Appeals' ruling. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the uncontroverted facts showed that the Rabinowitzs' claims concerned land not described in the title insurance policy and not in their Deed. Correctly applying this Court's rulings, the Court of Appeals reviewed the eight corners of the policy and the underlying Complaint and conclusively

found that all of the land at issue in the McGonagle Complaint was not the land described in the title policy or the Deed. As such, it is simply not conceivable to have a covered claim and there can be no duty to defend. Nor is there any substantial public interest that requires further review. The Rabinowitzs fail to show any error, or why this Court should grant this Petition. This Court should simply deny this Petition.